
 

TOWN OF MORAGA PLANNING COMMISSION 
SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA 
Tuesday, September 7, 2010 

7:30 p.m. 
 

Joaquin Moraga Intermediate School Auditorium 
1010 Camino Pablo, Moraga California 94556 

 
All documents relating to the following agenda items are available for public review in the Planning Department of the 
Town of Moraga at 329 Rheem Blvd. between the hours of 9 a.m. to noon, Monday, Tuesday and Thursday (other 
times by appointment).   Staff reports will normally be available on the Monday afternoon one week preceding the 
meeting.  It is recommended that you contact the Planning Department at 925-888-7040 for availability. 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

 
 Planning Commission 

A. Driver, Levenfeld, Obsitnik, Richards, Socolich, Whitley, Wykle 
B. Conflict of Interest 

 
II. ADOPTION OF MEETING AGENDA 
 
III.  ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
IV. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

This part of the agenda is to receive public comments on matters that are not on this agenda.  Comments received will not be acted upon 
at this meeting and may be referred to a subcommittee for response. Comments should not exceed three minutes. 
 

V. ADOPTION OF THE CONSENT CALENDAR  
Items on the Consent Calendar are believed by staff to be non-controversial. Staff believes that the proposed action is consistent with the 
commission's instructions.  A single motion may adopt all items on the Consent Calendar.   If any commissioner or member of the public 
questions any item, it should be removed from the Consent Calendar and placed in part IX of the Regular Agenda. 

 
A. August 23, 2010 Minutes 

 
VI. PUBLIC HEARINGS – None 
 
VII. PUBLIC MEETING  

Opening remarks by an applicant shall not exceed ten minutes.  Comments by others shall not exceed three minutes.  The purpose of a 
public hearing is to supply the Planning Commission with information that it cannot otherwise obtain.  Because of the length of time that 
the Planning Commission meetings frequently consume, please limit testimony and presentation to the supplying of factual information.  In 
fairness to the Commission and others in attendance, please avoid redundant, superfluous or otherwise inappropriate questions or 
testimony.  Thank you. Moraga Planning Commission. 

 
A. UP 10-10 Dollar Tree (applicant), Kimco (property owner) 542 Center Street, Rheem Valley 

Shopping Center:  Consideration of a permitted use application by Dollar Tree to operate a 
retail variety store in the Rheem Valley Shopping Center.  The new business is proposed to be 
located in the existing vacant space that was previously occupied by Blockbuster, Lori’s Perfect 
Tan and The Beauty Source.  (Zoning: Community Commercial – CEQA status: Categorically 
Exempt per CEQA Section 15301, Existing Facilities)  (Continued from the August 23, 2010 
Planning Commission meeting) 
 

B. GRADING PERMIT and HDP 01-10 – Mr. and Mrs. Robert White (Owner/Applicant), 32 
Buckingham Drive:  Application for a hillside development permit and grading permit to grade a 
hillside with a slope greater than 25% including an approximately 50 cubic yard excavation for an 
in-ground storage building and related improvements. In accordance with Moraga Municipal 
Code Section 14.16.020, the Planning Commission shall make a recommendation to the Town 



 

Council regarding the proposed application. The work that is the subject of this application 
including the hillside excavation and partial storage room construction was commenced without 
the benefit of any Town approvals.  The Town will evaluate the proposed application as if the 
work had not been started.  This application will receive no special consideration because it was 
started without permits.  The property is zoned 3 dwelling units per acre.  APN:  256-203-012. 
(Continued from the August 2, 2010 Planning Commission meeting) 
 

VIII. ROUTINE & OTHER MATTERS - None 
The following items do not require a public hearing, although the Chair or staff will indicate why each item is on the agenda.    Public 
participation will be limited and the Commission may decide to reschedule the item as a public hearing.   Discussion of administrative 
matters, such as adoption of findings, may be limited to the Planning Commission. 

 
IX. COMMUNICATIONS – None 
 
X. REPORTS 

 A. Planning Commission 
1. Jim Obsitnik, Chair 
2. Russell Driver, Vice Chair 
3. Stacia Levenfeld 
4. Dick Socolich 
5. Bruce Whitley 
6. Tom Richards 
7. Roger Wykle 
 

 B. Staff 
1. Update on Town Council actions and future agenda items. 

 
XII. ADJOURNMENT 
To a regular meeting of the Planning Commission on Monday, September 20, 2010 at 7:30 P.M. at the Moraga 
Library Meeting Room, 1500 St. Mary’s Road, Moraga, California.  Notices of Planning Commission meetings are 
posted at 2100 Donald Drive, the Moraga Commons, and the Moraga Public Library. 
 
NOTICE:  If you challenge a town’s zoning, planning or other decision in court, you may be limited to raising 
only those issues you or someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written 
correspondence delivered to the Planning Commission at or prior, to the public hearing.  Judging review of 
any town administrative decision may be had only if petition is filed with the court not later than the 90th day 
following the date upon which the decision becomes final.  Judicial review of environmental determinations 
may be subject to a shorter time period for litigation, in certain cases 30 days following the date of final 
decision. 
 
The Town of Moraga will provide special assistance for disabled citizens upon at least 24 hours advance notice to the 
Planning Department (888-7040).  If you need sign language assistance or written material printed in a larger font or 
taped, advance notice is necessary.  All meeting rooms are accessible to disabled. 
 
Copies of all staff reports and documents subject to disclosure that relate to each item of business referred to on the 
agenda are available for public inspection the 10th day before each regularly scheduled Planning Commission meeting 
at the Planning Department, located at 329 Rheem Boulevard, Moraga, CA.  Any documents subject to disclosure that 
are provided to all, or a majority of all, of the members of the Town Council regarding any item on this agenda after the 
agenda has been distributed will also be made available for inspection at 329 Rheem Boulevard, Moraga, CA during 
regular business hours. 



TOWN OF MORAGA 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

 
Joaquin Moraga Intermediate School Auditorium        August 23, 2010 
1010 Camino Pablo  
Moraga, CA  94556   7:30 P.M. 

MINUTES 
 
I.  CALL TO ORDER 
 

Chairman Obsitnik called the Special Meeting of the Planning Commission to 
order at 7:30 P.M.   

 
  ROLL CALL 
 

Present: Commissioners Levenfeld, Richards, Socolich, Whitley, Wykle, 
Chairman Obsitnik  

 Absent: Commissioner Driver   
 Staff:  Richard Chamberlain, Senior Planner 
  
 B. Conflict of Interest 
 

There was no reported conflict of interest. 
 

II.      ADOPTION OF MEETING AGENDA 
 
On motion by Commissioner Whitley, seconded by Commissioner Socolich and 
carried unanimously to adopt the meeting agenda, as shown. 
 

III. ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

There were no announcements.   
 

IV.       PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

John Fryer, 80 Goodfellow Drive, Moraga, presented written comments to the 
Planning Commission and read into the record Section 14.04.031, Subsections 
(a) and (c) of the Town of Moraga's Grading Ordinance as it related to the 
removal of dirt.  He asked that the Planning Commission review the ordinance 
and make adjustments given that any landscaping in the front or rear yards of 
private properties would likely be in violation of the stated Grading Ordinance.  
He also asked that the Planning Commission consider a list of at least three 
engineers who could provide peer review given that the Town only had one peer 
review agency.   

 
V.      ADOPTION OF THE CONSENT CALENDAR  
 
 A. August 2, 2010   



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 2 
 
 

On motion by Commissioner Socolich and seconded by Commissioner Richards 
to adopt the Consent Calendar, as shown.  The motion carried by the following 
vote: 
 
Ayes: Commissioners Levenfeld, Richards, Socolich, Whitley, Wykle  
Noes: None  

 Abstain: None    
Absent: Commissioner Driver, Chairman Obsitnik  

[Chairman Obsitnik recused himself from the minutes due to his 
absence at that meeting] 

 
VI.  PUBLIC HEARINGS  
 

A. UP 10-10 - Dollar Tree (Applicant), Kimco (Property Owner) 542 
Center Street, Rheem Valley Shopping Center:  Consideration of a 
permitted use application by Dollar Tree to operate a retail variety store in 
the Rheem Valley Shopping Center.  The new business is proposed to be 
located in the existing vacant space that was previously occupied by 
Blockbuster, Lori's Perfect Tan and The Beauty Source.  (Zoning:  
Community Commercial - CEQA status:  Categorically Exempt per 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Section 15301, Existing 
Facilities).   

 
Senior Planner Richard Chamberlain presented the staff report for consideration 
of a permitted use application by Dollar Tree to operate a retail variety store in 
the Rheem Valley Shopping Center.  The application is for a 9,088 square foot 
retail variety store in the Community Commercial land use district in the Rheem 
Valley Shopping Center.  He noted that retail businesses were a “permitted” use 
in the Community Commercial district; however, under Moraga Municipal Code 
(MMC) Section 8.36.02.A.1, the Planning Commission must consider eight 
findings for approval of the use. 
 
Identifying those eight findings, Mr. Chamberlain referred to Finding 1, that the 
use would not generate significant amounts of pedestrian and vehicular traffic 
that would foster the flow of traffic between the proposed use and uses across 
abutting streets where the retail use would be located in three existing vacant 
spaces in the Rheem Center, previously occupied by Blockbuster, Lori’s Perfect 
Tan and The Beauty Source.  He reported that the shopping center had a total of 
1,065 parking spaces.  The number of parking spaces required for the Dollar 
Tree store would be 37 based on one space for each 250 square feet of floor 
area.  There would be no change in the total number of required parking spaces 
from the previous uses.  There were no uses across abutting streets that would 
be a significant source of pedestrian or vehicular traffic for the proposed 
business. 

 



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 3 
 
 

With respect to Finding 2, Mr. Chamberlain stated that the use was compatible in 
land use and traffic characteristics and design with other uses directly affected by 
the proposed use.  The proposed use was not incompatible in terms of land use 
characteristics with other uses directly affected by the proposed use.  The Dollar 
Tree store would open and close for business at about the same time as other 
businesses in the shopping center and the peak traffic generation was not 
expected to change significantly.  The proposed use would only require interior 
tenant improvements and a new sign so the design of the store would remain 
compatible with the general appearance of the center. 
 
As to Finding 3, Mr. Chamberlain advised that any adverse characteristics of the 
use could be mitigated to the extent necessary to make the use compatible with 
neighboring uses. No adverse characteristics with neighboring uses had been 
identified by staff.  He stated that if testimony during the public hearing revealed 
an adverse impact with a neighboring use approval of the application could be 
conditioned with a mitigation measure to eliminate any adverse characteristic. 
 
Mr. Chamberlain stated with respect to Finding 4 that the use would be within a 
building or space enclosed by approved fencing, landscaping or other buildings.  
The proposed use would be entirely within the enclosed building.  The application 
did not request any outdoor display of merchandise.  
 
For Finding 5, the use would not generate noise levels in excess of fifty-five (55) 
dba during the daytime hours, or fifty (50) dba during the nighttime hours.  The 
Dollar Tree store would not have any new mechanical equipment that would 
generate noise in excess of the established standard.  
 
Referencing Finding 6, Mr. Chamberlain explained that the use would not create 
an excessive public economic problem. The use would contribute to the local 
economy by providing a source of full-time employment for one store manager 
and two assistant store managers as well as 23 part-time employees. The use 
would contribute to the local tax base through the payment of sales tax.  The use 
would contribute to the economic viability of the shopping center through the 
rental of three existing vacant spaces.  

 
Finding 7 required that the use not generate glare, electrical interference, odor, 
vibration, brilliant light, dust, smoke, fumes or other characteristics that were 
otherwise offensive to the senses to the extent that there was interference with 
the development or enjoyment of other property in the vicinity.  The operation of 
the Dollar Tree store would not involve cooking, construction or the use of 
significant mechanical equipment or any other activity that would result in 
characteristics that were offensive to the senses. 
 
Mr. Chamberlain stated that Finding 8 required that the hours of operation not 
foster conditions detrimental to the neighborhood or town.   



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 4 
 
 

The hours of operation, Monday through Saturday 9:00 A.M. to 9:00 P.M., and 
Sunday 9:00 A.M. to 8:00 P.M., were similar to the hours of operation for other 
businesses in the shopping center and would not be detrimental to the 
neighborhood or town. 
 
Mr. Chamberlain identified the fiscal impact of the project noting that the local 
sales tax in California was equal to one percent of the taxable sales in a 
jurisdiction.  According to the Moraga Revenue Enhancement Committee final 
report, sales tax was 18 percent of the General Fund in 2000 and was now only 
10 percent.  The sales tax revenues in the Town had been declining in the last 
couple of years because of the slowdown in the economy and the increased 
retail vacancies.  A substantial portion of the merchandise sold at Dollar Tree 
would be subject to sales tax.  He stated it would be reasonable to assume that 
the Town would see an increase in sales tax revenue over the three vacant 
stores.   
 
Mr. Chamberlain commented that Moraga residents seeking value and 
convenience could reasonably be expected to shop at Dollar Tree.  Dollar Tree 
carried items such as gift bags, craft supplies, party supplies, sundries and 
household items that were all used by typical families.  Dollar Tree was a single 
price point retailer where all merchandise was sold for one dollar, or in some 
cases such as greeting cards, at two for one dollar.  Dollar Tree appealed to 
consumers who wanted value but did not need the large quantities sold at big 
box stores.    
 
Mr. Chamberlain stated that in staff’s opinion it was unlikely that shoppers from 
outside the Lamorinda area would make a trip to Moraga just to shop at the 
Dollar Tree store because many Dollar Tree stores already existed closer to 
where consumers lived or worked.  There were currently 25 Dollar Tree locations 
within 25 miles of the Town of Moraga including higher income areas such as 
Sausalito and Belmont.  There was, however, no Dollar Tree stores in the 
Lamorinda area, which was the primary and secondary customer base for the 
Rheem Valley Shopping Center. 
 
Mr. Chamberlain reported that two e-mails from Moraga residents had been 
received just prior to the Planning Commission meeting; one in support of the 
application and the other in opposition to another discount/box retail store.  
Copies of all e-mails and written communications had been provided to the 
Planning Commission.    
 
Mr. Chamberlain added that staff had prepared a draft resolution for approval of 
the Dollar Tree in the Rheem Valley Shopping Center and recommended 
adoption of the draft resolution with revisions, if necessary. 
 



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 5 
 
 

In response to Commissioner Socolich, Mr. Chamberlain affirmed that the 
application complied with the permitted use requirements of the Town of Moraga.   
 
Commissioner Wykle inquired of the estimated sales taxes that would be 
generated by the permitted use, reported by Mr. Chamberlain that for the 2010 
year approximately $600,000 in overall tax revenue from businesses in Moraga 
had been forecast but he was uncertain of the actual percentage from the 
permitted use.   
  
Linda Duncan, Real Estate Manager representing Dollar Tree stores for the 
Northern California and Northwest Nevada Regions, outlined her background 
with Dollar Tree stores.  She explained that Dollar Tree was the largest single 
price point variety store in the country with over 3,925 stores in 48 states as of 
the end of July 2010.  Dollar Tree stores were company owned, were not 
franchised, and no one was allowed to use the name.  The stores sold a variety 
of items, all for one dollar or less, were considered a general retail tenant and 
would not change the character of the past and present uses of the Rheem 
Valley Shopping Center.   
 
Ms. Duncan explained that Dollar Tree stores conducted surveys before entering 
retail markets and through those surveys had determined a need in the 
Lamorinda area.  She acknowledged concerns that had been expressed through 
correspondence about Dollar Tree stores opening in poor neighborhoods.  She 
noted that Dollar Tree stores was a concept accepted by all economic levels with 
some stores in high-income neighborhoods throughout the Bay Area and the 
country where they had been welcomed by the communities where located.  The 
typical Dollar Tree customer did not travel more than three miles, typically on the 
way to or from work, home and shopping.  People from outside Moraga would 
not shop at the Dollar Tree.  Customers would likely be those already patronizing 
the center. 
 
Ms. Duncan understood that Moraga residents would like to see a grocery store 
in the Rheem Valley Shopping Center which had also been desirous by Dollar 
Tree in a daily needs center.  While the Rheem Valley Shopping Center did not 
have a grocery store and while that would reduce the overall revenue for Dollar 
Tree, it had not deterred Dollar Tree from opening in the center.   In fact, she 
noted that Dollar Tree oftentimes partnered with Fresh and Easy Grocery Stores 
to open in locations and had done so in many of their sites.   
 
Ms. Duncan reiterated that Dollar Tree did not just open in low-income 
neighborhoods and had opened in higher-income neighborhoods such as 
Roseville, Sausalito and Belmont.   She commented that California had a higher 
cost of living and incomes and for that reason a $40,000 average income may 
not support a Dollar Tree.   



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 6 
 
 

In response to concerns that Dollar Tree was a junk store, Ms. Duncan noted that 
many of their items were manufactured specifically for the Dollar Tree with 
agreements with many manufactures in order to be able to sell items for one 
dollar.  Close outs were not the focus of the business.   She acknowledged that 
Dollar Tree stores were not high-rent payers and must pay lower rents in order to 
pass along any savings to their consumers.  That was the reason Dollar Tree 
stores were rarely seen in first generation buildings, but in second through fourth 
generation buildings.  She suggested that a true prototype Dollar Tree store 
would not be affordable but a neighborhood would be proud to have it.  Dollar 
Tree would bring new interior improvements to the Moraga location and would 
spend a great deal of money to conduct those improvements while passing the 
cost savings on to the consumer.       
 
Ms. Duncan also commented on her experience with Dollar Tree stores in other 
communities in the Bay Area and outside of the Bay Area region where 
customers were spending money.   
 
Commissioner Levenfeld asked whether or not Dollar Tree stores entered 
markets with other general retailers, to which Ms. Duncan affirmed that had been 
done, oftentimes with discounters and other retailers.   
 
Commissioner Whitley asked whether or not the Moraga Dollar Tree would have 
a refrigeration unit. 
 
Ms. Duncan suggested that there was a good chance the Moraga store would 
not have a refrigeration unit due to the size of the tenant space. 
 
When asked about the sales taxes that could be generated by the permitted use, 
Ms. Duncan clarified that every store was different, although based on the size of 
the proposed Moraga store approximately 10 percent would be edible 
consumables and the other 90 percent taxable items. 
 
Mr. Chamberlain explained that information had been detailed in the staff report.    
 
Commissioner Wykle recalled that the staff report had mentioned tailoring the 
provisions in the stores based on the community.  He asked of the expectation of 
the proposed products in the Moraga store. 
 
Ms. Duncan explained that she was not in operations although based on what 
she had seen, household consumables, housewares and party items would be 
stressed with little emphasis on food items.  The store would open with a prefixed 
amount of items with sales monitored by a Point of Sale (POS) system to 
determine what was sold with items ordered accordingly.   



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 7 
 
 

Ms. Duncan added that the sales tax revenues had been projected for the store 
but could not be disclosed publically given Federal Communications Commission 
(FCC) rules about publicly-run companies.     
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
Dale Walwark, Moraga, recognized that economic events could not be controlled 
and that the Town could not force stores to open in Moraga or guarantee the 
success of those that did.  He referenced a recent survey that had been sent out 
to the community asking what stores residents would like to see open in Moraga.  
The preferred stores had not opened in the Town.  He commented that several 
years ago the Mayor and the Town Manager had been unsuccessful in securing 
a supermarket in the current Home Goods tenant space in the Rheem Valley 
Shopping Center.  While he would like Moraga to appear like a high-end San 
Francisco, the Town could not tell the property owners of the shopping center to 
replace one retailer with another, subject to the Town's rules.  He understood that 
the Planning Commission had no choice but to approve the permitted use 
application.   
 
Mr. Walwark stated he would rather see the Town consider whether or not it 
could continue as an incorporated municipality where a lot more revenue would 
be needed.  Given that the Town Council was working to engage with the citizens 
on that issue, he urged the Planning Commission to respond to those outreach 
efforts.   
 
George Tashkarian, Moraga, commented on his background and experience in 
retail.  He preferred that the Dollar Tree open in the City of Lafayette which was 
centrally located in the Lamorinda area.  He commented on the fact that Moraga 
had lost supermarkets to its immediate neighbors.  He preferred to see more 
upscale, smaller businesses locate in the Rheem Valley Shopping Center which 
he suggested could be done based on appropriate rents.  
 
Sal Captain, Joseph Drive, Moraga, expressed concern with the potential 
increase in vehicular and truck traffic as a result of the Dollar Tree store.  He 
clarified that residents were not arrogant but would like consideration of quality 
rather than income when locating Dollar Tree stores.  He noted that Moraga had 
a better quality of life than other high-income areas the applicant had referenced.   
 
Holly Lucas Alkali, 128 Devin Drive, Moraga, identified herself as a resident and 
small business owner in Moraga.  She commended the amazing schools in 
Moraga and the community participation for its local schools.  However, she was 
disappointed with the lack of retail and restaurants in Moraga.  She emphasized 
the success of the local Farmer's Market and while recognizing that Moraga 
needed more revenue, she questioned why the Town could not support more 
retail.   



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 8 
 
 

While she too liked a good bargain, Ms. Lucas Alkali suggested that a Dollar 
Tree store in a shopping center that was already dead raised concerns.  She 
commented on the declining real estate values and perception of the type of 
store that Dollar Tree represented in the Moraga community.  She further 
questioned the sustainability of the proposed store which would sell unrecyclable 
items that were already available in CVS and Safeway and the potential impacts 
to existing small businesses that sold similar items.  She preferred to see the 
Town encourage better retail in the Rheem Valley Shopping Center.   
 
Cavin McCarthy, 256 Rheem Boulevard, Moraga, suggested that the application 
did not meet Finding 6 as identified in the staff report since it could lower property 
values and impact local schools.  She pointed out that the shopping center was 
already occupied by discounters TJ Maxx and Tuesday Morning.  She also noted 
that the high-end communities that had been referenced where other Dollar Tree 
stores were located were large communities with industry.  Moraga was a cul-de-
sac community with no industry.   
 
Cliff Doctorman, 762 Augusta Drive, Moraga, commented that some of the same 
arguments being raised had occurred when Orchard Supply Hardware (OSH) 
desired to locate in Moraga.  He questioned the elitism attitude in the community 
and pointed out that CVS Pharmacy sold similar products to those the Dollar 
Tree would likely sell.  He emphasized the number of vacant storefronts in the 
community which he found to be a greater degradation to the community than the 
Dollar Tree would ever be.  He urged the Planning Commission to follow the 
Planning staff's recommendation, stand up for the business community, and 
bring Moraga back into the 21st Century.   
 
Joan Bruzzone, Moraga, identified herself as the owner of the Moraga Center.  
She too commented on the number of vacant storefronts in both of Moraga's 
retail centers and the efforts to retain tenants.  She spoke to the fact that two of 
her existing tenants had posted signage advertising sale items which the Town 
had asked be removed.  She questioned whether or not the Town would like to 
see more vacancies or signage advertising sales.  She also commented on the 
current economic conditions, number of property foreclosures in the Town, and 
the dire need for sales tax revenues.  She pointed out that the Blockbuster tenant 
space had been vacant for some time and the property owner needed to get a 
tenant to occupy that space.   
 
Mrs. Bruzzone spoke to the rights of property owners, efforts to retain tenants for 
vacant spaces in the Town's shopping centers, and the effort over the years to 
obtain a grocery tenant.  Since Moraga was a cul-de-sac community it could not 
support two supermarkets.  There had also been efforts of developers to build 
homes in Moraga which could patronize local businesses.   



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 9 
 
 

Ms. Bruzzone noted that Kimco Realty had difficulty in bringing in tenants that 
could bring sales tax revenues to the Town.  She emphasized that the Town, its 
people, and businesses were hurting.   
 
George Quintero, owner and manager of the Rheem Valley Pet Shop, an 18-year 
business owner, expressed his disappointment with Kimco Realty and the 
proposed Dollar Tree store.  While he acknowledged the number of vacancies in 
the Rheem Valley Shopping Center, he preferred to see a better quality retailer 
than the Dollar Tree, one which would generate more revenue for the Town, the 
shopping center, and the neighboring businesses.  He suggested that the Dollar 
Tree store would only sell junk and would not be supported by the local 
community.  He was not confident that the Dollar Tree, if allowed to open, would 
be viable in the long term.  He pointed out that Dollar Tree stores already existed 
in many local Bay Area communities, were typically patronized by low-income 
households, and was not something that he would like to see in Moraga.  He 
asked that tradition be preserved in Moraga.  
 
Linda Shulman, 3 Harold Drive, Moraga, described Moraga as a lovely bedroom 
community with friendly neighbors, wonderful schools, and low crime.  She too 
commented on the economic concerns and suggested it would not make Moraga 
a better place to allow another discount store in the Rheem Valley Shopping 
Center.   
 
John Sherbert, Moraga, spoke to the fact that the Rheem Valley Shopping 
Center had experienced an increase in vacancies over the last five to six years.  
He recognized that many residents would prefer to see high-end boutique shops 
in the center, but those uses had not come to the center given the lack of volume 
to support such businesses.  He would like to see the vacancies filled with sales 
taxes generated to the Town.  He recognized that there was no guarantee that 
the business would succeed in the long term although he would rather see the 
business open for a year rather than see continued vacancies.   
 
Ceal Murtaugh, 62 Corte Del Caballo, Moraga, suggested that Dollar Tree stores 
were tacky and not something she would like to see open in Moraga.  She 
suggested it would impact existing businesses and was not the right solution to 
allow such a business that did not meet the class of the Town of Moraga.   
 
Ken Fisher, Moraga, preferred to see a brew pub in the shopping center which 
could be patronized by Saint Mary's College students.  He suggested that the 
Rheem Valley Shopping Center was the least attractive of the Town's two 
shopping centers.  He recognized the lack of political support to redevelop the 
center with housing which would support the retail.  He would rather see a better 
tenant than the Dollar Tree but did not want to continue to see vacant storefronts.  
Given the lack of alternatives, he urged the Planning Commission to support the 
application.   



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 10 
 
 

Carolyn Whitt, Moraga, advised that she had submitted an e-mail to the Planning 
Department earlier in the week.  She understood that Dollar Tree stores and 
Dollar stores were different companies and should be clarified.  She read into the 
record the criteria of Dollar Tree stores to enter into a town, much of which she 
questioned applied to the Rheem Valley Shopping Center and the Town of 
Moraga.  She emphasized the need for another food store in Moraga, and she 
expressed her hope that the Planning Commission would consider information 
she had provided on Fresh and Easy as a potential tenant while considering the 
proposed application.   
 
Alice Frock, a resident of Sanders Ranch, Moraga, stated that she was familiar 
with the Fair Oaks Dollar Tree store which was located in an upscale 
neighborhood.  She suggested that the store would bring in a lot of foot traffic 
from the Lamorinda area.  She otherwise commented that she knew the architect 
who had been assigned to design the new store and suggested the store would 
not be trashy, but wonderful.   She also commented on Dollar Tree stores parent 
company's positive stock suggesting it would be a good store for the community.   
 
Betty Schlagle, 3995 Paseo Grande, Moraga, a 40-year resident, commented on 
the prior businesses in the shopping centers in Moraga at the time her family had 
moved to the community, all of which had moved away in the 1970's.  Such 
stores were still needed in the community and she suggested that the Dollar Tree 
would make an attempt to bring some of those things to Moraga.  She 
commented that the City of Lafayette did not have adequate parking and the 
Dollar Tree store would be suitable for the Rheem Valley Shopping Center which 
had the appropriate parking to accommodate customers.   
 
Lynn Davis, 48 Corliss Drive, Moraga, expressed her opposition to the opening of 
the Dollar Tree store in Moraga in an already struggling center which was 
anchored by discount retailers.  She suggested that a fourth discount retailer in 
the Rheem Valley Shopping Center would negatively impact existing tenants and 
residential property values and would be a significant turning point for the future 
of Moraga.  
 
Bill Snider, 711 Crossbrook Drive, owner of Moraga Hardware and Lumber, 
commented that he had patronized a Dollar Tree store located in Fort Collins, 
Colorado, which he found to be impressive.  Having researched Dollar Tree 
stores, a publically traded company, he learned that many of their products were 
specially packaged in sizes and quantities to allow the retailer to reach its price 
point.  He commented that it was unfortunate that the Town had been 
oversaturated with retail space.  He referenced the background of permitting 
Orchard Supply Hardware in Moraga and the economic impacts to his business 
and OSH.    
 



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 11 
 
 

While he did not have an opinion on the Dollar Tree store itself, and while he 
would rather see another business occupy the space, Mr. Snider suggested that 
the Dollar Tree store would not generate adequate sales tax revenue for Moraga 
since it would route traffic from the Lamorinda area and would, in fact, take 
revenue away from existing businesses.  He also suggested that the 
demographics would not support the store.  He otherwise noted that publically- 
owned businesses did not give back to the community and in this instance 
everyone would lose.   
 
Phyllis Schultz, Moraga, provided the Planning Commission with brochures for 
Dollar Tree stores.  She commented that Moraga did not have a lot places to 
purchase school supplies at low prices.  She noted that her church purchased 
school supplies for those in need overseas which could be achieved through the 
low prices at Dollar Tree stores.  She commented on the number of tenants that 
had been lost in the Rheem Valley Shopping Center over the years.  She 
suggested that the products sold by Dollar Tree stores were not junk, the 
business would not hurt the community, and it would not be an eyesore.   She 
presented the Planning Commission with written comments from her neighbors.    
 
Shirley DeFrancici, a resident of Hawthorne Drive, Moraga, suggested that an 
occupied tenant space would be better than a vacant storefront and blight.  
However, she expressed her hope that the Rheem Valley Shopping Center 
would reach a point of attracting higher-quality retailers.   
 
John Welter, identified himself as the Director of Real Estate for Kimco Realty 
and the Director of Real Estate for the Rheem Valley Shopping Center for the 
past six months.  He commented on the types of tenants that had been rejected 
for the Rheem Valley Shopping Center over the past month including two 
cigarette stores, a liquor store, and a comic bookstore.  He noted that Kimco 
Realty was a large publically-traded company with all efforts made to attract 
appropriate tenants for their centers.  He commented that there had been 
momentum for the Rheem Valley Shopping Center, with a recent lease signed for 
a yogurt shop, negotiations with a produce market, a signed lease with a 
Mediterranean Restaurant, and a potential sweet shop.   
 
Mr. Welter explained that the Dollar Tree store would occupy 10,000 square feet 
and would likely be patronized by Moraga residents.  While targeted uses had 
been apparel, sporting goods and the like, national tenants and franchises had 
not been interested in occupying tenant spaces in the Rheem Valley Shopping 
Center given the lack of density.  He asked that the Dollar Tree store be 
approved and that the current momentum be allowed to continue in order to 
attract more retailers to the center.    
 
 



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 12 
 
 

Armand Vasquez, Regional Vice President for Leasing, Kimco Realty, 
characterized the Rheem Valley Shopping Center as treading water with a 
number of vacancies.  While efforts had been made to attract national retailers, 
Moraga was located in a cul-de-sac community bleeding to the cities of 
Lafayette, Orinda and Walnut Creek.  He identified the most successful tenants 
in the shopping center as CVS Pharmacy and TJ Maxx.  He reported that TJ 
Maxx drew from outside of Moraga, Lafayette and into the City of Walnut Creek 
based on information provided by TJ Maxx.   TJ Maxx and Home Goods were 
owned by the same parent company, were gaining momentum, and were 
pleased with their status in the shopping center.   
 
Mr. Vasquez suggested that more tenants in the center would generate more foot 
traffic.  He also commented that the center was comprised of every retail and 
service category tenant that any shopping center could have for a community the 
size of Moraga where cannibalism of each of the tenants was inevitable.  He 
added that even if they were to obtain Fresh and Easy as a potential tenant in the 
center, that business would also sell products similar to those already offered by 
the existing tenants.   
 
Mr. Vasquez emphasized that Kimco Realty had a national presence and had 
been working hard to solicit regional and national tenants to ensure the success 
of the shopping center.  He also commented on the issue of redevelopment of 
the shopping center, which must have tenants for any redevelopment to be a 
success.  Redevelopment had been considered with Fresh and Easy being the 
primary catalyst of those efforts, although Fresh and Easy had not been 
comfortable with the numbers and the market in Moraga.  He reported that they 
were in negotiations with a produce store which had great experience and 
produce at great prices but which would impact the existing Safeway.  He 
emphasized that Dollar Tree would bring affordability and value and was a retail 
value alternative that the community did not currently have.  He asked that the 
Planning Commission seriously support Dollar Tree in the community.   
 
Dave Jameson, Asset Management for the Northwest Region, Kimco Realty, 
emphasized that the Rheem Valley Shopping Center had been a challenge but a 
high priority of Kimco Realty with efforts made to identify uses that supported the 
community's needs while enhancing the viability and long-term sustainability of 
the shopping center.  The shopping center had tenants on each end with large 
vacancies in the middle.  Infilling the center with new traffic would cross over to 
the existing tenants with additional foot traffic generated across the current 
vacant spaces.  He explained that the additional traffic could be used to 
encourage and entice local and regional operators to infill small vacant spaces in 
the center.  In the long term it was hoped that sustainability, support, and value 
would be created for the center with the center repositioned from where it was 
now.   He urged the Planning Commission to support the Dollar Tree in the 
Rheem Valley Shopping Center.   



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 13 
 
 

Zoe Clifford, Hetfield Place, Moraga, spoke to the references to Sausalito and 
Belmont Dollar Tree stores as equivalent to Moraga, which comparison she 
found to be inaccurate.  She urged care in making comparisons.  She suggested 
that TJ Maxx and the other discount stores in the center had taken a bad rap in 
that they had quality merchandise.  In her opinion, a large portion of the sales tax 
revenue of the Dollar Tree would likely come at the expense of other retailers in 
the community.  As a result, she suggested that Moraga residents deserved 
better and did not need the store.   
 
A. J. explained that he worked with a real estate company that worked with Dollar 
Tree stores.  He recognized that many had the same opinions being expressed 
about such stores selling junk.  However, having patronized a Dollar Tree store, 
he had found that the merchandise being sold was of value to those who needed 
it.  In his opinion, the store would offer students and teachers of Saint Mary's 
College quality goods in quantities at a good price.  Also many of the Dollar Tree 
store employees were college students who were able to work flexible hours.  He 
encouraged those who had not visited a Dollar Tree store to visit one.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS CLOSED   
 
REBUTTAL 
 
The applicant chose not to rebut the comments.   
 
Commissioner Wykle commented that he had researched the revenues and 
sales tax projections for Dollar Tree stores.  In 2009, Dollar Tree had $5.2 billion 
in revenue with over 3,800 stores, although the Town of Moraga would realize 
only one percent of that in sales tax revenue.     
 
Commissioner Levenfeld stated that she had difficulty in making Finding 6 to 
support the application.  She asked for a legal opinion on the definition of 
"excessive public economic problem," in that the use had the potential to 
cannibalize existing retail in the center.   While it may not be excessive, it raised 
a real concern for her.   
 
Mr. Chamberlain explained that the term "excessive public economic problem" 
had not been defined in that the Town code did not make a determination how 
one business may impact another given that every business was in competition 
and fared for itself.  The use had been reviewed based on its applicability with 
the MMC.   
 
Commissioner Levenfeld remained concerned with the potential negative impacts 
that the Dollar Tree store may have on existing retail tenants in the center.   She 
also expressed concern with the type of retail that may or may not come into the 
center if the business were permitted.   



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 14 
 
 

Commissioner Levenfeld otherwise thanked Kimco Realty for addressing the 
Planning Commission and updating everyone on the status of the center. 
 
Commissioner Socolich acknowledged the concerns with potential impacts on 
the existing businesses although if the Dollar Tree were to bring in enough foot 
and automotive traffic, some of the traffic may patronize other businesses in the 
Rheem Valley Shopping Center increasing the sales tax revenue to the Town.  
He commented that regardless of the business, it would add to the needed 
vitality of the center which was currently full of vacant spaces.  It would also 
contribute to the Town's revenue and provide jobs particularly for Saint Mary's 
College students.  He agreed that the business met the Town's criteria.  He 
added that the business would either succeed or fail based on customer support.   
 
Commissioner Whitley commented that the Planning Commission's decision 
making authority on the business was fairly limited and while the Commission 
may or may not like the business it was being asked to approve a commercial 
use and verify that use met the findings as outlined in the staff report.   In his 
opinion, the business met all of the findings with the exception of Findings 3 and 
6.  He referenced the values and general guiding principles of the General Plan, 
specifically Guiding Principle 8, and based on that principle the Town should or 
tend to be friendly to businesses to make a friendly environment in order to make 
the Town economically viable.  He also referenced LU2.2 of the General Plan, 
New Commercial Uses and the stated goals, and based on that section, the 
intent was to adopt uses and approve businesses that met the needs of local 
residents, employed local residents, and strengthened the character and 
attractiveness of the Town's commercial centers.   
 
Commissioner Whitley understood that the Dollar Tree would make some tenant 
improvements but would not improve the building given that it was a low cost 
improvement which did not necessarily comply with the intent of Finding 3.  He 
understood that the application could be conditioned that any adverse 
characteristic impacts were mitigated and the use approved.  In his opinion, there 
was no way to deny the application since the test the Commission was asked to 
apply would not allow the outright denial of the application.  The business would 
not create an excessive economic problem given that it was a retail store.  He 
understood that the Commission may impose mitigation that would strengthen 
the character and attractiveness of the Town's commercial centers.    
 
Commissioner Whitley acknowledged the concerns expressed with the discount 
nature of the store and suggested that one of the ways to enhance that would be 
to ensure the look and feel of the store as less of a discount store.  He noted that 
the Town’s TJ Maxx was an enhanced store with a higher grade quality of 
merchandise making the store more attractive than other TJ Maxx stores.   
 



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 15 
 
 

Commissioner Whitley asked staff what tools could be applied in this case to 
achieve that enhancement.   
 
Mr. Chamberlain reported that no exterior building changes had been proposed 
by the Dollar Tree, although signage would be required to be reviewed and 
approved by the Design Review Board (DRB).  The Town's Sign Ordinance 
would also limit any window signage.  He added that no outdoor displays had 
been proposed by the Dollar Tree store.   
 
Commissioner Socolich understood that the DRB focused on the exterior not the 
interior with the Town having no authority over the interior of the tenant space.  
He asked the representative of Dollar Tree to comment on what could be done to 
the interior of the store to ensure that it was tidy.   
 
Ms. Duncan clarified that money would be spent on the interior of the store.   
 
Chairman Obsitnik stated that he also had difficulty making Finding 6.  He was 
uncertain how it was to be interpreted although he disagreed with the staff report 
that the business would contribute to the local tax base.  He suggested that the 
business would be sales tax neutral given that it would cannibalize local stores 
and would not attract shoppers to Moraga.  He also suggested that the property 
values in Moraga could be impacted due to the perception of the choice of retail 
in Moraga in terms of how it reflected on property values, which could be an 
excessive public economic problem for Moraga homeowners and those who had 
invested in Moraga over the past ten years.  As to the existing guidelines and the 
remaining findings, there was no reason the business should not be approved.  
However, based on his interpretation of Finding 6, he could not support the 
application.   
 
Mr. Chamberlain suggested that the issue of property value was far outweighed 
by the burst of the housing market as compared to retail which had 
immeasurable impacts.  He disagreed that the type of stores had a factor on 
property values.  Moraga had good schools, a low crime rate, and was a 
relatively quiet community where retail not a big factor for why people moved to 
Moraga.   
 
Commissioner Levenfeld recognized the importance of getting a tenant in the 
center, although she noted that the lease would outlast the real estate market, 
with the tenants in the center characterizing the retail available in Moraga when 
there was an upturn in the real estate market.   
 
Commissioner Wykle also was concerned with the interpretation of Finding 6 
given the potential impacts on property values and projected sales taxes which 
could become a public economic problem.   
 



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 16 
 
 

Commissioner Whitley further spoke to Finding 6 and its interpretation which he 
did not interpret to mean a reduction in property values but as a specific outlay by 
the public agencies in Moraga with respect to the specific operation of a specific 
store.  The type of business was not necessarily intended to be covered in 
making that statement and as a result, it was not what was intended.  Even if it 
represented a reduction in property values, in the absence of data the Town 
could not assume that a store such as the Dollar Tree in and of itself would 
reduce property values, and if the assumption was made, the question was 
whether or not it would reduce them excessively which he did not see to be the 
case.   
 
Commissioner Whitley remained concerned with Finding 3 where the look and 
feel and character of the store should be addressed to ensure that it was within 
the character of the center and the semi-rural nature of the Moraga community.  
He recommended that the DRB review the signage and adopt conditions with the 
approval of the store, which would ensure that the look and feel of the store was 
in keeping with the character of the Moraga community.   
 
Chairman Obsitnik clarified the options before the Commission; either putting the 
request to approve the Dollar Tree store to a vote or to delay the decision to 
obtain a legal ruling on the interpretation of Finding 6.   
 
Mr. Chamberlain reiterated that the DRB would review the signage for the Dollar 
Tree store.  He recalled that at the time Tuesday Morning had been approved in 
the same center it had been conditioned that their displays be of showroom 
quality.  A similar condition could be imposed on the Dollar Tree store or the 
Commission may consider conditions related to the maintenance of the store.   
 
Commissioner Whitley recommended as an alternative that the Commission 
defer the application and ask the Planning Department to return with conditions 
that met the requirements allowing the Commission or the DRB to ensure that 
the look and feel of the store would comply with the look and feel of Moraga, as 
the community had envisioned.   
 
Mr. Chamberlain advised that the draft resolution of approval may be revised, 
subject to additional conditions, or the application could be continued, with staff 
to include language in the resolution to address the look and feel of the store, as 
discussed.  
 
Chairman Obsitnik pointed out that Dollar Tree stores operated similarly and for 
the Town to dictate how Dollar Tree operated its business for a permitted use 
may be a concern, and the Commission may be overstepping its boundaries.   
 



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 17 
 
 

Commissioner Richards expressed concern making Finding 6 absent a legal 
interpretation, the potential impacts on property values, and the fact that the 
center was full of vacant storefronts.   
 
Commissioner Levenfeld commented that she had not seen excessive public 
economic problems impacting property values.  Absent further advice from the 
Town's legal counsel, she was inclined to support the application given that she 
could not no reason not to approve the use. 
 
Commissioner Whitley sought the continuance of the application in order to 
obtain an opinion from Planning staff or legal counsel on the interpretation of 
Finding 6, and allow Planning staff to provide additional language to address 
mitigation that could be considered where the majority of the Commission may 
make a decision.   
 
Chairman Obsitnik agreed that a continuance was appropriate.  He agreed that 
an interpretation of Finding 6 was needed.   
 
Mr. Chamberlain commented that staff was of the opinion that the interpretation 
of Finding 6 was as outlined in the staff report. 
 
Commissioner Whitley pointed out the concerns expressed by the community for 
potential impacts on property values.  Based on those comments, he wanted to 
ensure that Finding 6 had been interpreted correctly.   
 
On motion by Commissioner Socolich, seconded by Commissioner Richards to 
continue UP 10-10 for Dollar Tree at 542 Center Street, Rheem Valley Shopping 
Center, to the Planning Commission meeting scheduled for Tuesday, September 
7, 2010, subject to Planning staff and legal counsel providing an opinion on the 
interpretation of Finding 6, and guidance and proposed language on potential 
mitigating conditions for the interior and exterior of the Dollar Tree store.  The 
motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Ayes: Commissioners Levenfeld, Richards, Socolich, Whitley, Wykle, 

Obsitnik 
 Noes:  None  
 Abstain: None 
 Absent: Commissioner Driver 

 
VIII.   ROUTINE & OTHER MATTERS 
 
 A.  None 
 
IX. COMMUNICATIONS 
 



Town of Moraga Planning Commission 
August 23, 2010 
Page 18 
 
 

A. None   
 
X. REPORTS 
 

A. Planning Commission  
 
There were no reports. 

 
B. Staff 

 
1. Update on Town Council actions and future agenda items. 
 

Mr. Chamberlain reported that the Rancho Laguna Appeal would be heard by the 
Town Council during its first meeting in September. The Planning Commission 
meeting of September 7 would also include the continued application for a 
grading project located on Buckingham Drive.   
 

XII.  ADJOURNMENT 
 

On motion by Commissioner Whitley, seconded by Commissioner Wykle to 
adjourn the Planning Commission meeting at approximately 9:50 P.M. to a 
regular meeting of the Planning Commission on Tuesday, September 7, 2010 at 
7:30 P.M. at the Moraga Library Meeting Room, 1500 Saint Mary’s Road, 
Moraga, California. 

 
A Certified Correct Minutes Copy 
 
 
 
Secretary of the Planning Commission  



  1 
Meeting Date: September 7, 2010 2 

 3 
 4 
TOWN OF MORAGA                                                                   STAFF REPORT 5 
 6 
To:  Planning Commission 7 
 8 
From:  Richard Chamberlain, Senior Planner 9 
 10 
Subject: UP 10-10 Dollar Tree (applicant), Kimco (property owner) 11 

542 Center Street, Rheem Valley Shopping Center 12 
Consideration of a permitted use application by Dollar Tree to 13 
operate a retail variety store in the Rheem Valley Shopping Center. 14 
Zoning: Community Commercial – CEQA status: Categorically 15 
Exempt per CEQA Section 15301, Existing Facilities.  (Continued 16 
from the August 23, 2010 Planning Commission meeting) 17 

  18 
Request 19 
 20 
Adopt the attached amended draft resolution approving the Permitted Use 21 
Application. 22 
 23 
Background 24 
 25 
The proposed Dollar Tree store would occupy the existing vacant space 26 
previously occupied by Blockbuster, Lori’s Perfect Tan and The Beauty Source.  27 
Testimony was received from 25 individuals at the August 23, 2010 Planning 28 
Commission meeting including the applicant, Linda Duncan, and three 29 
representatives from Kimco, the property owner.  After hearing public testimony, 30 
the Commission closed the public hearing and discussed the required findings for 31 
a permitted use listed under Moraga Municipal Code (MMC) Section 8.36.02.A.1.  32 
The Commission continued the application to the September 7, 2010 special 33 
meeting date with a request for additional information from staff with regard to 34 
finding #3 (mitigation for potential adverse characteristics) and finding #6 (the 35 
use would not create an excessive public economic problem). 36 
 37 
Discussion  38 
 39 
With regard to finding #3, Commissioner Whitley specifically requested that staff 40 
list conditions for mitigation of any potential adverse characteristics in order that 41 



 2

the “look and feel” of the store would be in keeping with Moraga and the 1 
character of the Rheem Valley Shopping Center.  Staff reviewed conditions of 2 
approval for other “permitted” use tenants at the Rheem Valley Center, including 3 
Tuesday Morning and the Home Goods stores and added eight conditions of 4 
approval to the draft resolution.  The Commission may choose to modify these 5 
conditions or consider additional conditions.  In particular, condition #2 pertaining 6 
to the blockage of the front store windows by interior merchandise displays may 7 
need to be tweaked for more clarity.  Three of the conditions pertain to signage at 8 
the store and are basically summaries of requirements from the Town’s Sign 9 
Ordinance and Town Design Guidelines.  Staff believes that these conditions 10 
would mitigate any adverse characteristics of the business. 11 
 12 
With regard to finding #6, some of the residents that were opposed to the Dollar 13 
Tree store were declaring that another discount type store at the Rheem Valley 14 
Shopping Center would lower their property values.  The Planning Commission 15 
broadly interpreted “Public Economic Impact” to include the potential adverse 16 
impact to residential home values in Moraga.  Staff has made numerous queries 17 
on the internet in an attempt to find any studies or reports that could substantiate 18 
the claim that discount or bargain stores in a community could lower property 19 
values.  No empirical evidence was found to link any specific type of retail 20 
business operation with lower residential home values.  Only two types of 21 
businesses were mentioned in any of the studies that had a negative impact on 22 
home values – oil refineries and nuclear power plants.  Two articles from the 23 
internet have been attached as EXHIBIT A to address factors that influence 24 
property values.  These include: “What Factors Determine Property Value” and “3 25 
Factors That Reduce a Home’s Value”.  Generally, home buyers are looking for 26 
good schools, low crime rates and quiet neighborhoods when they are seeking a 27 
new home.  The type of stores in the vicinity does not appear on any lists as a 28 
determining factor for selecting a new home.  However, it can be shown that a 29 
high vacancy rate for stores in a community does have an adverse “Public 30 
Economic Impact”.  The reduction in sales tax revenue can eventually lead to 31 
reduced police services and poorer schools, both of which are high on the list of 32 
factors impacting home values.  The argument that the Dollar Tree store will 33 
bring down home prices in Moraga or start a downward spiral for the stores in the 34 
Rheem Center is totally unsubstantiated by any factual information.  Staff has 35 
amended the language under finding #6 in the draft resolution to confirm that the 36 
Dollar Tree store would not cause any excessive public economic problem. 37 
 38 
Fiscal Impact  39 
 40 
At the August 23rd meeting, Commissioner Wykle estimated the annual potential 41 
sales tax revenue for the Town at about $13,000 based on 5.2 Billion dollars in 42 
revenue for the 39,025 Dollar Tree stores nationwide.  Some of the residents 43 
opposed to the store argued that the Town would not see any sales tax increase 44 
because the sales at Dollar Tree would cannibalize sales at other stores in Town.  45 
The representative for Dollar Tree, Linda Duncan, indicated that the stores have 46 



 3

a sophisticated inventory control system, where products may be replaced to 1 
keep the shelves full as many as three times a day and that products that don’t 2 
sell can be changed by the store manager to products that the community wants.  3 
Although there could be some “cannibalization” of sales within Moraga, staff 4 
believes that there could potentially be much more cannibalization of sales 5 
outside the community.  For example, we would hope that Moragan’s might elect 6 
to buy school supplies at Dollar Tree rather than drive to Target in Walnut Creek.  7 
The “bleeding” of sales tax revenue to our adjacent communities is one of the 8 
major fiscal problems for Moraga identified by the Revenue Enhancement 9 
Committee.  In any case, the Dollar Tree store will certainly bring in more tax 10 
revenue than the existing vacant stores.   11 
 12 
Alternatives 13 
 14 
Revise the attached draft resolution making revisions as necessary. 15 
 16 
Recommendations 17 
 18 
Adopt the attached draft resolution with revisions, if necessary. 19 
 20 
Attachments:  21 

A. Factors impacting property values 22 
B. Amended Draft Resolution 23 

 24 



EXHIBIT A 
 

FACTORS IMPACTING 
PROPERTY VALUES 

 
 









EXHIBIT B 
 

AMENDED DRAFT 
RESOLUTION 

 
 



Page 1 of 4 – Draft PC Resolution for Dollar Tree Store at 542 Center Street 

BEFORE THE TOWN OF MORAGA PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
In the Matter of: 
Approval of a Permitted Use application from 
Dollar Tree to allow the operation of a retail 
variety store at 542 Center Street in the 
Rheem Valley Shopping Center.__________

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
Resolution No. XX-2010 PC 
 
File No.  UP 10-2010 
 
Planning Commission Adoption Date:   
 September 7, 2010 
 
Effective Date, if not appealed: 
 September 17, 2010 
 

 
 
WHEREAS, an application for a Permitted Use was submitted on July 27, 2010 by 

Dollar Tree (Applicant) and Kimco (Property Owner) for the operation of a retail variety 
store at 542 Center Street in the Rheem Valley Shopping Center; and 

 
WHEREAS, the project is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 

15301 existing facilities; and 
 

WHEREAS, a Public Hearing Notice for the project was mailed to property owners 
and businesses within 300 feet of the property on August 13, 2010; and 
 

WHEREAS, on August 23, 2010, the Planning Commission held a public meeting 
where testimony was received from the applicant and interested parties; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission deliberated on the findings for approval of 
the use and the Commissioners requested additional input from staff with regard to finding 
number 3 (mitigation for potential adverse characteristics) and number 6 (that the use 
would not create an excessive public economic problem); and 
 

WHEREAS, Commissioner Whitley in regard to finding number 3, specifically 
requested conditions of approval from staff that would make sure that the “look and feel” of 
the store would be in keeping with Moraga; and 
 

WHEREAS, the question to be resolved in regard to finding number 6 was whether 
another discount or bargain type store at the Rheem Shopping Center would have a 
negative impact on residential home values in Moraga that would constitute an “excessive 
public economic problem”; and 
 

WHEREAS, the planning staff has amended the draft resolution to include 
appropriate conditions of approval to address various factors that could impact the visual 
appearance and operation of the Dollar Tree store; and 
 

WHEREAS, the planning staff has attempted unsuccessfully to find any quantitative 
evidence to substantiate the claim that discount stores would have a negative impact on 
property values. 



Page 2 of 4 – Draft PC Resolution for Dollar Tree Store at 542 Center Street 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission of the 

Town of Moraga hereby approves the Permitted Use application from Dollar Tree to allow 
the operation of a retail variety store at 542 Center Street in the Rheem Valley Shopping 
Center in accordance with the findings and conditions of approval listed below. 
 
FINDINGS FOR APPROVAL OF A PERMITTED USE PERMIT IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
MMC SECTION 8.36.020B: 
 

1. The use will not generate significant amounts of pedestrian and vehicular traffic that 
will foster the flow of traffic between the proposed use and uses across abutting 
streets because the retail use would be located in 3 existing vacant spaces in the 
Rheem Center, previously occupied by Blockbuster, The Beauty Source and Lori’s 
Perfect Tan.  The shopping center has a total of 1,065 parking spaces.  37 parking 
spaces would be allocated to the Dollar Tree store on a non-exclusive basis (1 
space for each 250 square feet of floor area).  There would be no change in the 
total number of required parking spaces from the previous businesses.  There are 
no uses across abutting streets that would be a significant source of pedestrian or 
vehicular traffic for the proposed business. 
 

2. The use is compatible in land use and traffic characteristics and design with other 
uses directly affected by the proposed use because the proposed retail sales at the 
Dollar Tree store will not be incompatible in terms of land use characteristics with 
the other businesses at the Rheem Valley Shopping Center.  The Dollar Tree Store 
will open and close for business at about the same time as other businesses in the 
shopping center and the peak traffic generation is not expected to change 
significantly.  The proposed use will only require interior tenant improvements and 
new signage so the design of the store will remain compatible with the general 
appearance of the Center.  
 

3. The potential adverse characteristics of the use will be mitigated to the extent 
necessary to make the use compatible with neighboring uses with the conditions of 
approval that have been included in resolution.  
 

4. The use will be within a building or space enclosed by approved fencing, 
landscaping or other buildings because the displays of merchandise and retail sales 
for the Dollar Tree store will be entirely within the enclosed building.  The 
application does not request any outdoor display of merchandise. 
 

5. The use will not generate noise levels in excess of fifty-five (55) dba during the 
daytime hours, or fifty (50) dba during the nighttime hours because the Dollar Tree 
store intends to install new HVAC equipment to improve the efficiency and reduce 
operational costs as stated by the applicant at the August 23rd Planning 
Commission meeting and the new mechanical equipment will not generate noise in 
excess of the established standard.  
 

6. The use will not create an excessive public economic problem because the Dollar 
Tree store use will add to the local sales tax revenue and will help contribute to the 
economic viability of the Rheem Valley Shopping Center through the rental of three 



Page 3 of 4 – Draft PC Resolution for Dollar Tree Store at 542 Center Street 

existing vacant spaces.   The use will also contribute to the local economy by 
providing a source of full time employment for 1 store manager and 2 assistant 
store managers as well as 23 part time employees.  No empirical evidence has 
been found that links discount or bargain stores with lower residential home values.  
On the contrary, the lack of tax revenue from vacant stores in a community can 
adversely impact community services and school funding.  Good police services 
and schools both contribute to higher home values.   
 

7. The use will not generate glare, electrical interference, odor, vibration, brilliant light, 
dust, smoke, fumes or other characteristics that are otherwise offensive to the 
senses to the extent that there is interference with the development or enjoyment of 
other property in the vicinity because this business does not involve cooking or 
construction or the significant operation of mechanical equipment or any other 
activity that would result in characteristics that are offensive to the senses. 
 

8. The hours of operation will not foster conditions detrimental to the neighborhood or 
town because the proposed hours of operation, Monday through Saturday 9 am to 
9 pm and Sunday 9 am to 8 pm, are similar to the hours of operation for other 
businesses in the shopping center and would not be detrimental to the 
neighborhood or town. 
 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
1. All merchandise fixtures and interior finishes shall be of showroom and display 

quality similar to other retail businesses in the shopping center and the store 
shall not present the appearance of a warehouse operation. 

2. Shelving and movable wall partitions within 6-feet of the front windows shall be 
limited in height to 3-feet and shall not block a significant portion of the front 
windows.  The intent of this condition is only to provide an inviting storefront to 
the public.  Displays beyond the front window shall be at the discretion of the 
business owner. 

3. Any exterior business identification signs that are illuminated or that can be seen 
from the Moraga Road scenic corridor shall be reviewed by the Design Review 
Board for compatibility with the other business signs at the Rheem Valley 
Shopping Center. 

4. Window signs, including temporary promotional signs, shall not exceed 20% of 
the area of the window on which they are placed in accordance with Moraga 
Municipal Code (MMC) Section 8.88.090. 

5. In accordance with Town of Moraga Design Guideline CC3.5, decorative product 
type signs, such as neon beer signs, shall be located no closer to an exterior 
window or open doorway than 6 feet.  Exposed neon tubing, whether for signing or 
decoration, is not considered in good taste for exterior display and is discouraged 
under Design Guideline CC3.7. 



Page 4 of 4 – Draft PC Resolution for Dollar Tree Store at 542 Center Street 

6. The following types of signs are prohibited under MMC Sections 8.88.240-A.8 
and 8.88.360: 
a. Signs consisting of moving or rotating parts, flashing lights such as, but not 

limited to, search or flood lights; 
b. Signs which are inflatable; 

c. A sign which is dilapidated, in disrepair or unsightly; 
d. A sign which is: (1) portable, such as an “A-frame” sign; (2) attached to a 

fence; (3) painted on or attached to a vehicle which is parked for the 
purpose of advertising to the passing public; or (4) supported by exposed 
wires or cables. 

e. A sign which, because of brilliant lighting, interferes with the comfortable or 
peaceful enjoyment of adjoining or surrounding property, or because of 
shape, design, intensity, color or reflected light, conflicts or interferes with 
traffic or public safety; 

7. All deliveries of merchandise for the store shall be made at the rear of the 
building so as to not impede the flow of traffic within the shopping center.  If it is 
impossible to make a delivery at the rear of the building, the Planning Director 
may approve an alternate location at a time that does not adversely impact 
circulation within the center. 

8. All trash and recycling shall be accommodated at the rear of the building. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the Town of Moraga on 

September 7, 2010, by the following vote: 
 
Ayes:  

Noes:  
Absent:  

Abstain:  
 
 
              Jim Obsitnik, Chair 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
Lori Salamack, Planning Director 

 



Page 1 of 3 – Staff Report for 32 Buckingham 

  1 
Meeting Date: September 7, 2010 2 

 3 
TOWN OF MORAGA                                                                              STAFF REPORT 4 
 5 
To:  Town of Moraga Planning Commission 6 
 7 
From:  Rich Chamberlain, Senior Planner 8 
 9 
Subject:  GRADING PERMIT and HDP 01-10  Mr. and Mrs. Robert White 10 

(Owner/Applicant), 32 Buckingham Drive:  Application for a hillside 11 
development permit and grading permit to grade a hillside with a slope 12 
greater than 25% including an approximately 50 cubic yard excavation for 13 
an in-ground storage building and related improvements. In accordance 14 
with Moraga Municipal Code Section 14.16.020, the Planning 15 
Commission shall make a recommendation to the Town Council regarding 16 
the proposed application. The work that is the subject of this application 17 
including the hillside excavation and partial storage room construction 18 
was commenced without the benefit of any Town approvals. The Town 19 
will evaluate the proposed application as if the work had not been started. 20 
This application will receive no special consideration because it was 21 
started without permits. The property is zoned 3 dwelling units per acre.  22 
APN:  256-203-012.  (Continued from the August 2, 2010 Planning 23 
Commission Meeting) 24 
 25 

 26 
Request 27 
Review the proposed project and make a recommendation to the Town Council for 28 
approval or disapproval or approval with conditions. 29 
 30 
Public Notice and Correspondence 31 
A public notice was mailed to the property owners within 300 feet of the proposed 32 
project site on July 23, 2010.  A copy of the notice, mailing list and area of notice map is 33 
attached as EXHIBIT A.  This agenda item was continued to a date certain at the 34 
hearing on August 2nd, therefore no additional notice has been mailed.  The only person 35 
in attendance at the August 2nd meeting was John Friar, the applicant’s geotechnical 36 
engineer. 37 
 38 
Background 39 
At the August 2nd meeting, the Commission continued the hearing in order to receive 40 
comments from the property owner prior to making a recommendation to the Town 41 
Council.  All exhibits remain the same and the staff report which follows is the same as 42 
previously written by Lori Salamack for the August 2, 2010 meeting. 43 



Page 2 of 3 – Staff Report for 32 Buckingham 

 1 
In May 2009, town staff became aware of grading being done without a permit at 32 2 
Buckingham. Upon investigation, it was determined that a permit was required both for 3 
the grading and for the alteration of the hillside.  The current application is the result of 4 
approximately 14 months of working with the applicant to have the necessary 5 
documents submitted for consideration by the Town. Attached in EXHIBIT B is the 6 
correspondence between the applicants’ soil engineer and the town’s peer review 7 
consultant.  According to the June 14, 2010 letter from Cal Engineering and Geology all 8 
of the technical issues identified in the May 3, 2010 comment letter have been satisfied. 9 
The revised plans dated May 25, 2010 have also been corrected to be consistent with 10 
the comment letter.  11 
 12 
CEQA Compliance 13 
The project is categorically exempt in accordance with CEQA Section 15303 small 14 
structures. 15 
 16 
Discussion 17 
The photo below shows the current construction for a storage building that is built into 18 
the hillside behind the home.  This construction was issued a stop work order.   19 

 20 
 21 
The existing rear yard retaining walls at the east side of the rear yard were constructed 22 
in 2006 and are shown in the photo below: 23 

 24 
 25 



Page 3 of 3 – Staff Report for 32 Buckingham 

As in this case, the 2006 walls were originally commenced without the necessary town 1 
approvals and subsequently plans were filed for approval from the Design Review 2 
Board.  A copy of the 2006 Design Review Board staff report is attached as EXHIBIT C.  3 
One difference between the application in 2006 and the current application is that the 4 
Town had not adopted the new Grading Ordinance at the time the project was approved 5 
and the grading permit was issued by the Contra Costa County Building Department. 6 
 7 
The current application is now subject to the provisions of the Town’s Grading 8 
Ordinance, as well as a hillside development permit.  Town Council action is required on 9 
the grading permit because it is proposed on a slope in excess of 25%.  The fact that 10 
substantial work has already been done on this project without a permit does not 11 
change the required findings for this application.  The factors to be considered in the 12 
issuance of a hillside development permit are discussed in EXHIBIT D. 13 
 14 
In addition, the findings required for approval of the grading permit are discussed in 15 
EXHIBIT E.  16 
 17 
Recommendation 18 
Consider the application and provide direction to staff for the preparation of a resolution 19 
recommending approval or disapproval by the Town Council EXHIBIT F. 20 
 21 
Exhibits: 22 

A. Public Notice Map, Notice List and Public Hearing Notice 23 
B. Peer review comment letter and response 24 
C. 2006 Design Review Board staff report 25 
D. Hillside Development Permit consideration 26 
E. Grading determinations 27 
F. Draft resolution 28 
G. Plans 29 



Exhibit A 
Public Notice, Notice List and Public Hearing Notice 

 

 

  



VICINITY MAP AND AREA OF NOTICE 
 
 

32 Buckingham Drive - White Residence 
 

File Number:  HDP-01-2010 
 
 

Legend
0 20 40 60

Feet

 
 

0 204060

Feet
Legend

 



HDP-01-10
Mailed Public Notice

 32 Buckingham Drive
Mailing List

Hillside Development
Permit

APN NAME ADDRESS CITY & ZIP
256203011 Rudolph H & Eldene L Mortensen     PO BOX 6401  MORAGA , CA 94570 6401
256024006 Laura M Diaz 12   BUCKINGHAM DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2407
256024007 James C Philip 14   BUCKINGHAM DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2407
256203014 Joel Chiu 88   MOSS BRIDGE LN ORINDA , CA 94563  
256203012 Robert A & Claudia E White 32   BUCKINGHAM DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2407
256203013 Frank Yun Quan Pan 26   BUCKINGHAM DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2407
256030002 Rheem Valley Properties Llc 190   N WIGET LN, Apt.#101 WALNUT CREEK, CA 94598 2440
256203008 Sandra K North 56   BUCKINGHAM DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2407
256203009 Mohsen Pazooki 50   BUCKINGHAM DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2407
256203010 Anthony C Carpentieri  44   BUCKINGHAM DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2407
256204007 Alan B & Carmen G Mould 9756   WESTBURY CIR HIGHLANDS RANCH , CO 80129 6930
256204006 Elaine E Sellers  49   BUCKINGHAM DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2406
256204005 James F Woidat  43   BUCKINGHAM DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2406
256204004 Sarah Weingarten  39   BUCKINGHAM DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2406
256023021 Olst Eric & Jessica Van 11   BUCKINGHAM DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2406
256023020 Douglas C & Cynthia A Redinger 15   BUCKINGHAM DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2406
256204003 Wesley E Jones 35   BUCKINGHAM DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2406
256023019 Jaroslaw & Eva Gryko 17   BUCKINGHAM DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2406
256204002 William I Levyn     PO BOX 6567  MORAGA , CA 94570  
256204001 Wayne L & Susan Q Chan 23   BUCKINGHAM DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2406
256204009 Michael H Rose 48   WOODFORD DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2429
256204010 Thomas B & Judith Gosnell 46   WOODFORD DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2429
256204011 Xinli Yang 40   WOODFORD DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2429
256204012 Richard E & Paula J Bonitz 34   WOODFORD DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2429
256204013 Ascencion Jr Portillo  28   WOODFORD DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2429
256204014 Rodger G & Karen Ng Lum 22   WOODFORD DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2429
256023017 Brian P Ahearn  3   CAMELFORD CT MORAGA, CA 94556 2408
256023018 Dean B & Diane Y Thomas 16   WOODFORD DR MORAGA, CA 94556 2429



Exhibit B 
Peer Review Comment Letter and Response 

 

  











































Exhibit C 
2006 Design Review Board Staff Report 

 

 

  























Exhibit D 
Hillside Development Permit Consideration 

 

 

  









Exhibit E 
Grading Determinations 

 

 

  















Exhibit F 
Draft Resolution 

 

 

 

 

  







Exhibit G 
Plans 

 


